The St Chad’s organ restoration scheme

A brief history of the organ

The St Chad’s organ dates from 1906 and is about one year older than the church, which was opened and consecrated in October 1907. This is because the church’s original instrument, a two-manual organ by Hill & Co, was totally destroyed by fire in October 1952.

The present organ was acquired as a replacement in 1953 and was installed in the church by the former organ builders, Smethurst & Co of Manchester. 

The organ had been originally installed in Brackenburgh Tower, near Calthwaite, Penrith, now in Cumbria. Brackenburgh Tower had its origins in a fortified house built in either the later 14th century or the early 15th century. Following alterations and additions undertaken by William Atkinson in 1852, it was acquired by Joseph Harris in 1874, who then set about utilising the proceeds of his coal mining interests in Cumberland to expand the Brackenburgh Estate. In 1902-3, he employed the renowned Scottish architect, Robert Lorimer, to substantially rebuild the mansion into the building it largely remains today.

The organ was added in 1906 and was a present from Joseph Harris to his wife, who was the ‘musician’ of the household. Its console occupied a free-standing position in the Great Hall, with the pipes in two positions, partly within a wall alcove and the remainder, comprising the ‘Swell’ manual, located in a box within the roof space. 

As well as being an instrument for Mrs Harris, the organ was used on occasions to accompany local amateur orchestras and brass bands from the family-owned collieries. Sir Henry Wood (of Promenade Concerts fame) is known to have been a guest on one occasion, and may have played the instrument as he was also an organist. 

At Brackenburgh, the organ seems to have remained in use until some time during the 1930s. By 1946, possibly due to the advancing age of the owners (Mrs Harris died in 1946 and her husband the following year), the organ was ‘out of use’ and had suffered some deterioration. Harrison & Harrison were instructed to find a buyer for it, but were unsuccessful. The building was by then let to a private girls school which was asked to take responsibility for the organ, but declined. Harrisons then offered to buy the instrument as ‘material’, but this offer also was declined. The organ was finally removed from Brackenburgh in early 1953, when it was installed in St Chad’s Church.

Why is our organ so special ?

The St Chad’s organ is interesting in a number of ways :

1. Although it is a three manual instrument, the layout of the manuals differs from other three manual organs, which typically have a Choir/Great/Swell layout (in ascending order). Four manual instruments, usually found in very large parish churches and chapels, cathedrals and large civic buildings, will have a Choir/Great/Swell/Solo layout. 

The St Chad’s instrument has a Great/Swell/Solo layout, and is known by local organists as the ‘upside down organ’, in view of the unusual layout. It is thought that this layout is almost unique in the UK. One other ‘half example’ is known to exist at Christ Church, Skipton, North Yorkshire. That organ too dates from 1906 and is a Harrison and Harrison instrument. Although the keyboard for the Solo manual was provided, and still exists, the pipework was never fitted. That organ has also been subject to a number of alterations over the years.

2. The St Chad’s organ originated as a ‘house organ’, and was not designed for leading congregational singing. One of its original intended uses was to accompany local amateur orchestras and colliery brass bands. Consequently, it has a greater proportion of ‘softer’ stops than a normal church organ of the same size. Although the Brackenburgh organ has transferred well to a church location and use, and is well suited to the task of contributing to church worship at St Chad’s, the smaller proportion of ‘louder’ stops is a disadvantage when an organ of this type suffers gradual deterioration and when faults to the louder stops cannot be fixed by way of piecemeal repairs.

3. When installed in St Chad’s in 1953, the specification of the organ was unaltered. This itself is relatively unusual as changes of this nature are typically accompanied by additions to ‘improve’ the organ. 

The St Chad’s Harrison and Harrison organ – the older of only two instruments by this firm in the City of Manchester, is a fine instrument of considerable historical importance, a fact which was recognised by the British Institute of Organ Studies, which awarded it a Grade 2star certificate in June 2008. The organ represents an early yet mature work of one of the nation’s foremost organ builders and is an interesting example of the firm’s work at that period. Although not now in its original location, the organ, with its unusual layout and slightly unusual specification remains exactly as it was provided to its purchasers in 1906.

Why does it need to be restored ?

When installed in St Chad’s in 1953, the organ was made to fit into a chamber designed for a smaller 2 manual instrument. In addition, whereas at Brackenburgh Tower the instrument had been in three locations, enabling easy access for maintenance purposes, at St Chad’s, all parts of the organ are located together. Whilst this has its advantages musically, it means that access to certain parts of the internal workings of the organ are either difficult or impossible. This problem is compounded by the large numbers of pneumatic pipes, effectively the organ’s transmission system.

Over the years, faults have developed in the pneumatic system, and in particular in the ‘derivation engines’, where ‘commands’ from the manuals are fed to the pneumatic pipes. These faults are impossible to access in the absence of a full restoration of the organ.

In addition, the leather work in the delicate primary and secondary motors (the mechanisms that convert commands from the pneumatic pipes to the speaking pipes) is failing on account of simple old age. 

In practical terms, the faults manifest themselves as follows :-

a). Entire stops cease to work. Currently there are 4 stops plus the two ‘tremulants’ that do not work (compared to 2 in 2008). A further 3 are intermittent.

b). Whole notes on all three manuals do not work, on any stop being selected. Others can be intermittent

c). Individual notes on particular stops either do not work or are intermittent. . One of the louder Pedal stops has nearly half of its notes unplayable. 

d). Many of the thumb pistons beneath the three keyboards (which select pre-set combinations of stops) do not work. 

Taken as a whole, the organ remains playable by those who know how to handle it and can still produce a fine sound, typical of the organ’s original builders. However, the number of faults continues to grow and the quality of the instrument continually degrades.

What about the restoration scheme ?

The St Chad’s PCC have taken advice from Paul Hale, the organist of Southwell Minster and a member of the Association of Independent Organ Advisors. His report, which recommended restoration of the current instrument and the replacement of the existing charge-pneumatic system by electro-mechanical action, has formed the basis of three quotations obtained from reputable organ builders and restorers. A number of alternative schemes have also been considered.

The proposed restoration is now to be the subject of a number of grant applications to a number of bodies including the Heritage Lottery Fund, and a Faculty request being made to the Diocese of Manchester. 

Further progress on the restoration scheme will be posted on the website as and when progress is made.

The St Chad’s organ, despite its faults, is an integral part of the liberal Anglo Catholic yet traditional liturgy that is the feature of worship at the church. Its continued availability is essential if the church is to continue to offer a mission to the wider community it serves. 

We look forward to receiving your full support to help us achieve the restoration of this fine instrument.

